A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

.

The petitioner, the Estate of Craig S. Lundy asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals, Division One decision which reversed the trial court decision. A copy of the decision is in the Appendix, pages A-1 through A-12. No motion for reconsideration has been filed. The published opinion was filed on June 1, 2015.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- Is an issue of substantial public interests present when the court of Appeals held that ERISA preempts all state law claims by an estate to recover an ERISA governed 401(k) plan after it has been distributed to an ex-spouse?
- 2) Is an issue of substantial public interest present when the Court of Appeals relied upon *Boggs* and *Carmona* to preempt the estate's post-distribution state law claim to recover an ERISA governed 401(k) plan?
- 3) Is an issue of substantial public interest present when the Court of Appeals found that a waiver of a beneficial interest in a divorce decree must be express and cannot be implied by application of Washington State law?

4) Is an issue of substantial public interest present when the Court of Appeals allowed ERISA to invade an area of traditional state concern?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1) Procedural Background

Petitioner, the Estate of Craig Lundy ("The Estate"), filed a law suit under TEDRA in Snohomish County Superior Court on March 3, 2014. The Plaintiff-Estate alleged that the defendant, the ex-wife of the decedent, should disgorge the funds received from the decedent's ERISA governed 401(k) retirement plan because it violated the terms of their divorce decree. In the alternative, the Estate claimed that the ex-wife was unjustly enriched upon receipt of those funds. Following a bench trial, Judge Eric Lucas, entered an order awarding the retirement plan to the estate. The Appellate Court reversed this decision.

2) Craig Divorced His Wife, Kelly, Three Years Before He Died.

The decedent, Craig S. Lundy, married defendant Kelly Lundy on January 26, 1984. (CP 40). The parties divorced on September 23, 2009. *Id.* They have no children together. (CP 41). Craig died on August 4, 2013 intestate and without issue. *Id.* Kathleen Staiger, Craig's sister, was appointed Personal Representative. (CP 96-97). Craig's heirs at law are his four siblings. *Id.* Craig was a career machinist at Boeing. (CP 3). During his employment, he steadily contributed to his retirement plan which was known as a Boeing VIP Plan (401(k)). *Id.* The value of that plan was \$497,435.77 as of December 31, 2013 representing by far the largest asset of his estate. *Id.* Kelly Lundy is the named beneficiary and is listed as Craig's "wife" on the beneficiary form signed nearly 18 years prior to the divorce on November 27, 1991. (CP 3). This designation was neither altered nor reaffirmed following the divorce. *Id.* The Summary Plan description provided by Boeing indicates that you "must designate your spouse as your beneficiary." *Id.* The Boeing plan is governed by Federal Law (ERISA).

3) Craig Was Expressly Awarded His Boeing VIP (ERISA) Retirement Plan In The Divorce Decree.

The divorce decree entered by Whatcom County Superior Court states in the section titled "Property to be awarded the Husband" that, "The husband is awarded as his separate property the following property [...] <u>All retirement funds and 401(k)s in his name</u>." (CP 77). It further awards Kelly Lundy "All retirement funds and 401(k)s in her name." *Id.* Kelly testified that the value of her retirement account is roughly equal to Craig's. (VRP 8). The relationship was dissolved because, as Kelly alleged in her Petition for Dissolution, the marriage was "irretrievably broken." (CP 63-73). Craig was not represented in the divorce proceeding and Kelly was represented by counsel. (CP 3).

4) Craig And Kelly Were Rarely In Contact After Their Divorce.

Based on the evidence provided to the court, the trial court found that Craig rarely had any contact with Kelly Lundy following the dissolution. (CP 3). They never reconciled or cohabited post-dissolution. *Id.* This is corroborated by the defendant's sworn testimony in which she testified that she never visited Craig's home following the divorce. (VRP 5). This was not a close relationship, but a divorced couple who had parted ways based on no shared interest.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

1) Introduction: Size and scope of ERISA Retirement Plans

The standard for a Petition for review is whether the appealing party has raised an issue of "substantial public interest." RAP 13.4(b)(4). As a preliminary matter, it is important to note the size and scope of ERISA governed retirement plans in Washington State to understand the impact of the Court of Appeals' ruling. The Petitioner has been unable to establish the precise number of state residents subject to ERISA. Certainly for Snohomish County, Boeing is the chief employer and all of its employees participate in ERISA retirement programs. According to the Bureau of Labor, "Most voluntarily established, private-sector retirement plans" are governed by ERISA. *See* United State Dep't of Labor Employee Benefits Summary, <u>www.dol.gov/ebsa/faqs</u>. Any divorcing Washington residents where either has a 401(k) or other federally governed plan is affected.

ŧ

2) There is a substantial public interest when the Court of Appeals finds that ERISA preempts all state law claims by an estate to recover an ERISA governed 401(k) plan post-distribution.

The Court of Appeals decision runs contrary to the past five years of case law development nationwide by barring post-distribution suits under state law to recover ERISA governed retirement plans. (*See* A-1). While this was the trend prior to 2009, it gained near universal application in published opinions following the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Kennedy v. Plan Administrator*, 555 U.S. 285, 300, 129 S. Ct. 865, 172 L. Ed. 2d 662 (2009). This case provides the Washington Supreme Court with an opportunity to join the trend, limit the scope of ERISA to its stated objective, and restore state authority to govern an area of traditional state concern. The Court of Appeals declined to do so by relying upon pre-*Kennedy* case law, primarily an unnecessarily broad reading of the U.S. Supreme Court's decision in *Egelhoff v. Egelhoff*, 532 U.S. 141, 121 S. Ct. 1322, 149 L. Ed. 2d 264 (2001).

In *Estate of Egelhoff v. Egelhoff*, 139 Wn.2d 557, 989 P.2d 80 (1999), a unanimous Washington Supreme Court ruled that ERISA governed plans are subject to RCW 11.07.010 which provides that non-

probate beneficiary designations are automatically revoked upon divorce. In consequence, the estate of the deceased worker was awarded the decedent's life insurance and retirement plan notwithstanding an unchanged beneficiary designation naming the surviving spouse as the beneficiary. *Id.* at 580. The court emphasized "Washington's sovereign interest in exercising its traditional police powers in the area of domestic relations and family law." *Id.* at 570. So even though federal law appeared to compel distribution to the ex-spouse, the state Court determined state law would prevail in the divorce setting.

,

The U.S. Supreme Court reversed in *Egelhoff*, supra. Relying upon ERISA's stated objective of protecting the uniform application of law and the need to establish one rule for plan administrators to follow, the Court determined state law must yield. *Id.* at 152. This ruling did not find RCW 11.07.010 unconstitutional or invalidate the statute, but barred its direct application.¹

Eight years later, in *Kennedy*, the Court revisited the issue of whether ERISA preempts state law claims by an estate to recover an ERISA governed retirement plan post-distribution. *See Kennedy*, 555 U.S.

¹ The Supreme Court rejected an analysis of preemption that would "turn on 'infinite connections,' [citation omitted]", but required an impermissible burden on the objectives of ERISA. It found the Washington statute "had a prohibited connection with ERISA plans because it interferes with nationally uniform plan administration." *Id.*, at 147-148. This is the logical scope of ERISA's potentially infinite reach into areas of traditional state jurisdiction.

285. This issue was brought to the attention of the Court because several other courts had narrowly interpreted the prior decision in *Egelhoff* and allowed for post-distribution suits against the ERISA plan beneficiary under state law theories of waiver and unjust enrichment. See e.g., Pardee v. Estate of Pardee, 112 P.3d 308 (OK Div. 2, 2004); Sweebe v. Sweebe, 712 N.W.2d 708 (Mich. 2006).² In Kennedy, the decedent had an ERISA governed retirement plan and failed to remove his ex-spouse postdissolution. Kennedy, 555 U.S. at 289. The decedent had been awarded the retirement plan in the divorce decree and his estate sued the plan administrator. Id. The Court found that the plan administrator properly followed the laws governing ERISA by distributing the funds to the exspouse. Id. at 299-300. However, the Court noted it did not "express any view as to whether the Estate could have brought an action in state or federal court against Liv [ex-spouse] to obtain the benefits after they were distributed." Id. at 300 (Emphasis added). It cited Egelhoff, for the proposition that the purpose of ERISA is for the protection and efficiency of the plan administrators in the distribution of benefits. Id. Kennedy did not analyze the consequence of a post-distribution suit against a

² The *Sweebe* court explained: "Today's decision is not in conflict with the United States Supreme Court's decision in *Egelhoff [citation omitted]*. In *Egelhoff*, the Court addressed a mandatory state statute that ... governed the distribution of benefits in all applicable cases, requiring plan administrators to administer plans in accord with differing state requirements." *Sweebe*, 712 N.W.2d at 711.

beneficiary as the facts presented involved a claim against the plan administrator.

,

Following the decision in *Kennedy*, subsequent courts found that once benefits had been distributed, the federal interest in protecting ERISA was satisfied and that an estate could bring a suit directly against an ex-spouse to recover them. *See e.g., Andochick v. Byrd*, 709 F.3d 296 (4th Cir. 2013); *Kensinger v. URL Pharma, Inc.,* 674 F.3d 131 (3rd Cir. 2012). The decision in *Kennedy* was summed up by the Third Circuit as having closed one door (actions pre-distribution of ERISA retirement plans), but having "**opened another [door]**" to by expressly stating that they were not blocking suits post-distribution. *Kensinger*, 674 F.3d at 134. The Fourth Circuit recognized the near universal interpretation of the case law by holding that,

ERISA does not preempt post-distribution suits against ERISA beneficiaries. We note that in reaching this conclusion, we adopt the same view as every published appellate opinion to address the question. *Andochick*, 709 F.3d at 301.

Notwithstanding this potent trend, the Court of Appeals herein decided to deny the same relief to Washington estates. While it apparently acknowledged the *possibility* of post-distribution suits in the aftermath of *Kennedy*, it firmly closed the door, reading ERISA's mandates to require that a non family member (ex spouse) retain the distributed benefits at the expense of the decedent's family. (A-8).

. .

Under our facts, the decedent, Craig Lundy divorced his spouse in 2009 and passed away thereafter. The divorce decree awarded him his Boeing VIP Plan, but he neglected to remove his wife as the beneficiary under the plan according to the mandatory form he filled out in 1991. A suit was brought directly against the beneficiary, not the plan administrator. This scenario is squarely within the open door acknowledged in *Kennedy* and applied in favor of estates seeking postdistribution relief from ex-spouses. *See, Kensinger*, supra, and *Andochick*, supra. Although the cases did not limit the theories for which state law claims can be brought, those advanced by the Estate rely on state contract law and unjust enrichment.

In conclusion, the Court of Appeals erred by effectively barring the estate's post distribution suit under state law.

3) There is a substantial public interest when the Court of Appeals relies upon *Boggs* and *Carmona* to require preemption's application post distribution.

The Court of Appeals erred in applying *Boggs* and *Carmona* to block the application of Washington State law. Neither party cited either of these cases in their briefing materials which are distinguishable as they represent the law prior to *Kennedy* and have substantially different facts from our own. The decision in *Boggs* was written in 1997, twelve years prior to *Kennedy* and the original decision in *Carmona* was published pre-*Kennedy. See, Carmona v. Carmona,* 544 F.3d 988 (9th Cir. 2008). The subsequent republication of the decision in *Carmona* added language briefly acknowledging *Kennedy*, but found that it was inapplicable to their facts. *See, Carmona v. Carmona,* 603 F.3d 1041 (9th Circ. 2010).

In *Boggs*, the decedent's pre-deceased first wife had made a will leaving her alleged community property share of her husband's ERISA governed annuity benefits to their sons. *Boggs v. Boggs*, 520 U.S. 833, 117 S.Ct. 1754, 138 L.Ed.2d 45 (1997). The first wife died and the husband remarried. *Id.* at 836. Upon his later death, the sons of the first marriage claimed their mother's share under her will. *Id.* at 837. The second wife sued to claim her joint and survivor's interest in her husband's pensionannuity. *Id.* The Court found that the state community property law allowing testamentary control of the annuity by the first wife's estate was in direct conflict with the purpose of ERISA which specifically required the benefits pass to the named surviving spouse. *Id.* at 843. Even the plan participant *inter vivos* could not change his second wife's entitlement, as the stated purpose of the annuity according to ERISA § 1055 was to

ensure a stream of income to surviving spouses.³ It is self-evident in the instant case that there was no surviving spouse to protect, and no annuity to preserve. *Boggs*, is inapposite.

The Court in *Kennedy*, when addressing the issue of postdistribution suits, cited several court cases that expressly distinguish the holding in *Boggs. Kennedy*, 555 U.S. at 300. The subsequent case law that has allowed for post-distribution suits under state law claims has further distinguished *Boggs* allowing for claims under state law theories. *See, e.g. Andochick*, 709 F.3d 296; *Kensinger*, 674 F.3d 131.

Similar to the decision in *Boggs*, the majority of the decision in *Carmona* relies upon pre-*Kennedy* jurisprudence and deals with a different ERISA section and concern. The facts in *Carmona* did not support a post-distribution suit since the retirement plan at issue plan had vested in the former spouse prior to the time the parties divorced. *Carmona*, 603 F.3d at 1048.

Lupe Carmona designated his eighth wife, Janis, as his survivor beneficiary under two pension plans which provided qualified joint and survivor annuity benefits. *Id.* at 1048. While they were still married, Lupe retired and began collecting pension benefits. *Id.* When the pair divorced

³ "ERISA's solicitude for the economic security of surviving spouses would be undermined by allowing a predeceasing spouse's heirs and legatees to have a community property interest in the survivor's annuity." *Boggs*, 520 U.S. at 843.

two years later, Lupe sought to revoke Janis's designation as his survivor beneficiary. *Id.* The plan administrators refused to do so even though the Nevada family court awarded the pension plans to Lupe Carmona. *Id.* The state court ordered the plan administrators to change the beneficiary from Janis to Judy based upon the divorce decree. *Id.* The appellate court in *Carmona* overturned the decision on the basis that the **benefits had already vested in Janis prior to the divorce**, because he received them when he retired at which time they were married. *Id.* at 1062 (Emphasis added).

1

This is not our case. In *Carmona*, the court determined that the annuity vested prior to the time that any facts arose supporting a state law claim to divest the beneficiary. This is a critical distinction. Once funds have vested, a party owns them and cannot waive them. In our case, *Kennedy*, and the other case law discussed, the alleged waiver and facts giving rise to the claim occurred prior to vesting. Furthermore, the purpose that ERISA is concerned with in *Carmona* is the same as *Boggs* in that the annuity was required to pass to the surviving spouse at the time of vesting. This leads to unique policy concerns that are entirely absent in our case and overlooked by the Court of Appeals, *viz.* the protection of a surviving spouse.

Furthermore, while the facts did not support application of *Kennedy* or the subsequent case law, the court in *Carmona* did acknowledge the ruling in *Kennedy* and its binding effect. Following the passing of *Kennedy*, the court added a section that contradicted their prior statements limiting constructive trusts, saying: "it may not be that all constructive trusts instituted by state courts, particularly those that seek to recover ill-gotten gains, will have sufficient connection with or reference to an ERISA plan to trigger ERISA's preemption provision." *Carmona,* 603 F.3d at 1062. This statement is followed by a footnote which states that , "In *Kennedy*, the court explicitly declined to express a view on whether an action could have been brought to obtain benefits from the former spouse after they had been distributed to her." *Id.*

.

Acknowledging that the law had changed post-*Kennedy*, a Ninth Circuit Federal District Court decided a similar case to our own and did not regard itself as bound by *Carmona. Hohu v. Hatch*, 940 F.Supp.2d 1161 (N.D. Cal. 2013). In *Hohu*, the deceased husband of the Plaintiff, Linda Hohu, was an employee and had a life insurance plan and stock units governed by ERISA. *Id.* at 1165. The Plaintiff was his wife at the time of the beneficiary designation and they subsequently filed for divorce. *Id.* John Hohu died during the divorce proceedings and before a final judgment had been entered. *Id.* John's estate sued the wife under the

California probate code attempting to assert a constructive trust based upon the application of California family law. *Id.* at 1165. This is a very similar factual scenario to our own, where an estate is suing an ex-spouse under state probate and family law regarding an ERISA based retirement plan in the post-distribution setting.

In *Hohu*, the court referenced *Kennedy* to support their holding that the post distribution suits are appropriate after the funds have been distributed to the designated beneficiary. *Id.* at 1174. The court cited the above quoted, post-*Kennedy* added language in *Carmona* as supportive. *Id.* at 1175. Otherwise, the court disregarded *Carmona* – apparently recognizing that the remainder of that opinion had been outmoded post-*Kennedy* or was factually distinguishable. The court went on to state that since *Kennedy*, "ERISA does not preempt post-distribution suits against ERISA beneficiaries." *Id.* (Citing *Andochick v. Byrd*, 709 F.3d 296, 301 (4th Cir. 2013)). The court said that, "In reaching this conclusion, we adopt the same view as every published opinion to address the question." *Id.*

The plaintiff in *Hohu* was attempting to do the exact same thing as the estate here, except here the parties had been divorced for some time. The goal was to bring a suit under state family and probate law in the postdistribution setting to recover an estate asset. *Id.* at 1174. There, the court recognized that the ruling in *Kennedy* and subsequent case law allowed for

this and that *Carmona* had incorporated this decision. The decision in *Kennedy* only makes sense if the court is considering allowing for a different result under a post-distribution state law claim than would occur under ERISA. This is how subsequent courts have interpreted it and what we are asking the court to do in using Washington state law, including use of RCW 11.07.010 to interpret the terms of the parties' divorce decree.

4) There is an issue of substantial public interest when the Court of Appeals found that in Washington, waiver of a beneficial interest in a divorce decree must be express and cannot be implied by application of state law.

The Court of Appeals cited *Wagner v. Wagner*, 95 Wn.2d 94, 621 P.2d 1279 (1980) to support their position that RCW 11.07.010 was not part of the Lundy's divorce decree, stating: "Further, to constitute a waiver, other than by express agreement, there must be unequivocal acts or conduct evincing an intent to waive." *Id.* at 102. That very same decision previously explained how to interpret a divorce decree, and which terms are automatically incorporated therein. In *Wagner*, the court stated that:

> It is the general rule that parties are presumed to contract with reference to existing statutes [...] and a statute which affects the subject matter of a contract is **incorporated into and becomes a part thereof** [...] If the parties to a contract wish to provide for other legal principles to govern their contractual relationship, they must be expressly set forth in the contract... *Id.* at 98-99 (Emphasis added)

Since *Wagner*, the Washington State Supreme Court has updated the test for determining waiver: "A waiver is the intentional and voluntary relinquishment of a known right, or such conduct as warrants an inference of the relinquishment of such a right." *See, e.g. Schroeder v. Excelsior Mgmt. Grp., LLC,* 177 Wn.2d 94, 106, 297 P.3d 677 (2013). However, Washington Courts have not changed the way that state law is incorporated into statutes absent express preclusion. *See e.g., In Re Sagner,* 159 Wn. App. 741, 749, 247 P.3d 444 (2011) (quoting *Wagner* 95 Wn.2d at 94).

1

In application to our facts, the court is to interpret this contract to determine the intent of the parties as a matter of law. Specifically, the court must determine whether the ex-spouse agreed to waive her rights as a beneficiary of the ex-husband's Boeing VIP Retirement Plan. The language of the contract itself awards the Boeing VIP Plan to the husband as his sole and separate property (and vice versa). To determine the terms that are automatically incorporated into the contract itself, the parties are to look to state law. *Sagner*, 159 Wn.App. at 749. If the statute applies, then it is incorporated into the contract unless there is an express statement in the contract excluding the applicable statute. *Id.*

In Washington State, there is a statute which explicitly discusses the effect of awarding a party a non-probate asset in a divorce decree. When a party is awarded an asset in a divorce decree, by statute, there is an <u>automatic revocation</u> of the beneficiary designation of an ex-spouse prior to the divorce:

(1) This section applies to all nonprobate assets, wherever situated, held at the time of entry of a decree of dissolution [...]
(2)(a) If a marriage [...] is dissolved [...] a provision made prior to that event that relates to the payment or transfer at death of the decedent's interest in a nonprobate asset in favor of or granting an interest or power to the decedent's former spouse [...] is revoked.

RCW 11.07.010.

. .

This statutorily imposed waiver of a future interest as a beneficiary can only be revoked with an express statement to the contrary.

Egelhoff did not deem RCW 11.07.010 unconstitutional for all purposes. This law still operates in Washington to direct the disposition of all assets governed by state law. Based upon the subsequent case law's interpretation, *Egelhoff* only declared that this statute could not be directly applied to frustrate ERISA's mandate that plan administrators follow the existing beneficiary designations. *Egelhoff*, 139 Wn.2d at 557. That state law, however, is good law and remains valid in interpreting the agreed decree of dissolution voluntarily entered into by the parties for purposes of retention of the assets post-distribution. This indirect and narrow application of RCW 11.07.010 for purposes of interpreting the Lundy's

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