91965-8

RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jul 24, 2015, 9:28 am BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK

RECEIVED BY E-MAIL

No. 71900-9-I

THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE ESTATE OF CRAIG S. LUNDY, Petitioner,

٧.

KELLY LUNDY, Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY #14-4-00306-0

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

BURI FUNSTON MUMFORD, PLLC

By PHILIP J. BURI WSBA #17637 1601 F Street Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 752-1500

INTRODUCTION

This case is not the appropriate vehicle for further review. The trial court made a clear legal error, and the Court of Appeals corrected it. The trial court ruled that RCW 11.07.010 nullified Craig Lundy's earlier federal designation of his wife as beneficiary for his Boeing retirement benefits. (4/2/14 VRP 36) (RCW 11.07.010 "applies to non-probate assets wherever situated held at the time of the entry of Decree of Dissolution of marriage"). But under RCW 11.07.010, the Legislature specifically excluded employee benefit plans like Mr. Lundy's that are governed by the federal Employment Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA). RCW 11.07.010(5)(a)(i) ("provided otherwise by controlling federal law"). In other words, the trial court applied a statute that by its terms did not apply.

The Court of Appeals correctly ruled that the State statute cannot reverse a federal choice of beneficiary – whether before or after distribution of the benefits.

[S]tate law claims to recover postdistribution ERISA benefits have been thus far rebuffed. Kennedy [v. Plan Admin. for Dupont Savings and Investment, 555 U.S. 285, 129 S.Ct. 865, 172 L.Ed.2d 662 (2009] does not recognize an open question in the context of a state-law-based claim to postdistribution of ERISA

benefits, but only in the context of waiver by private agreement between the parties.

Estate of Lundy v. Lundy, No. 71900-9-I, slip op. at 10 (June 1, 2015). Despite this, the Estate of Craig Lundy asks this Court to accept review and reverse.

Respondent Kelly Lundy respectfully requests this Court to deny the Estate's Petition for Review for three reasons. First, RCW 11.07.010 expressly excludes ERISA-governed plans like Mr. Lundy's. Second, the parties did not waive their ability to serve as each other's beneficiary or receive benefits. Third, the Estate's flawed legal argument makes this case inappropriate for further review.

- I. THE LEGISLATURE EXCLUDED FEDERAL BENEFIT PLANS FROM THE SCOPE OF RCW 11.07.010
 - A. <u>State Law Mandates A Change In Beneficiaries After</u>
 Divorce

Under RCW 11.07.010, a couple's divorce automatically revokes any designation of the ex-spouse as the beneficiary for a non-probate asset.

If a marriage...is dissolved or invalidated...a provision made prior to that event that relates to the payment or transfer at death of the decedent's interest in a nonprobate asset in favor of or granting an interest or power to the decedent's former spouse...is revoked. A provision affected by this section must be interpreted,

and the nonprobate asset affected passes, as if the former spouse...failed to survive the decedent, having died at the time of entry of the decree of dissolution...

RCW 11.07.010(2)(a). This means, for example, that a wife's designation of her husband as beneficiary for her life insurance policy ends automatically on divorce. The proceeds would go to the wife's alternative beneficiary, or if none, to her estate.

The purpose for this statute is straightforward: "the Legislature codified the assumption that divorcing couples want to change the beneficiary designations on nonprobate assets upon dissolution or invalidity of their marriage." Mearns v. Scharbach, 103 Wn. App. 498, 507, 12 P.3d 1048 (2000). Until 2001, the statute applied to all probate assets, regardless of whether the benefit plan also had to comply with the federal ERISA regulations. This changed with Egelhoff v. Egelhoff, 532 U.S. 141, 121 S.Ct. 1322, 149 L.Ed.2d (2001).

B. <u>The United States Supreme Court Found RCW</u>
11.07.010 Preempted For ERISA-Governed Benefit
Plans

In <u>Egelhof</u>, the United State Supreme Court held that ERISA preempted Washington's automatic statutory revocation.

The statute binds ERISA plan administrators to a particular choice of rules for determining beneficiary status. The administrators must pay benefits to the

beneficiaries chosen by state law, rather than to those identified in the plan documents. The statute thus implicates an area of core ERISA concern. In particular, it runs counter to ERISA's commands that a plan shall "specify the basis on which payments are made to and from the plan," § 1102(b)(4), and that the fiduciary shall administer the plan "in accordance with the documents and instruments governing the plan," § 1104(a)(1)(D), making payments to a "beneficiary" who is "designated by a participant, or by the terms of [the] plan." § 1002(8).

Egelhoff, 532 U.S. at 147, 121 S. Ct. at 1327-28.

The Supreme Court unequivocally exempted the Boeing Retirement Plan – the same Plan at issue here – from State control over a participant's choice of beneficiary. <u>Egelhoff</u>, 532 U.S. at 144, 121 S.Ct. at 1326 ("Mr. Egelhoff was employed by the Boeing Company, which provided him with a life insurance policy and a pension plan").

C. <u>The Washington Legislature Incorporated Federal</u> Preemption Into RCW 11.07.010

In response to <u>Egelhof</u>, the Washington Legislature immediately amended RCW 11.07.010 to exclude ERISA plans. Under RCW 11.07.010(5)(a)(i), automatic revocation does not apply to non-probate assets controlled by federal law.

(5)(a) As used in this section, "nonprobate asset" means those rights and interests of a person having beneficial ownership of an asset that pass on the person's death under only the following written

instruments or arrangements other than the decedent's will:

(i) A payable-on-death provision of a life insurance policy, employee benefit plan, annuity or similar contract, or individual retirement account, unless provided otherwise by controlling federal law.

RCW 11.07.010(5)(a)(i) (emphasis added). In 2002, the Legislature amended the statute solely to add the italicized phrase. Laws of 2002, ch. 18 § 1.

The Legislature added this phrase to recognize that the statute does not apply to benefit plans governed by ERISA.

Current Washington law provides, upon divorce, for the automatic revocation of the designation of a spouse as a beneficiary of various nonprobate assets like life insurance, pension plans, and payable on death bank accounts. A recent U.S. Supreme Court decision, Egelhoff v. Egelhoff, found that the Washington statute cannot be applied to pension plans governed by the Employment Retirement Income Security Act (ERISA) because that federal law preempts the state law. It is the hope of the proponents of this legislation that the express reference to controlling federal law contained in this bill will cause practitioners to not rely upon the Washington statute where it has been preempted by federal law.

Washington Final Bill Report, 2002 Regular Session, Senate Bill 6242 (March 19, 2002) (Attached as Appendix A).

Mr. Lundy's 401(k) plan, the Boeing VIP plan, is the archetype of an "employee benefit plan" that is "provided otherwise

by controlling federal law." RCW 11.07.010(5)(a)(i). The Legislature amended the automatic revocation statute to exclude ERISA-governed plans like Mr. Lundy's. By its terms, the statute does not apply.

II. THE PARTIES DID NOT WAIVE THEIR RIGHT TO SERVE AS EACH OTHER'S BENEFICIARY

A. No Express Waiver

The Court of Appeals confirmed that neither Craig nor Kelly Lundy expressly waived their right to serve as the other's beneficiary.

[W]aiver is not apparent on the face of the dissolution decree. Kelly did not expressly disavow any interest in the proceeds of the account as beneficiary. The decree says only that the retirement account "is awarded [to Craig] as his separate property." Disclaiming an ownership interest is not the same as disclaiming future rights as a beneficiary. By contrast, in many cases cited by the Estate, the ex-spouse explicitly waived the right to receive ERISA proceeds.

Estate of Lundy, slip op. at 11. The Estate tacitly concedes this point, alleging that the Court of Appeals erred by ruling "that a waiver of a beneficial interest in a divorce decree must be express and cannot be implied by application of Washington State law." (Petition for Review at 1)

No evidence exists that Kelly Lundy expressly waived her right to serve as her ex-husband's beneficiary.

B. No Grounds for Implied Waiver

The Court of Appeals did not err by rejecting the Estate's arguments for implied waiver. Because state law excludes the Boeing Plan, Ms. Lundy could not have impliedly waived her ability to remain a beneficiary based on the statute.

Implied waiver requires unequivocal acts. Am. Safety Cas. Ins. Co. v. City of Olympia, 162 Wn.2d 762, 773, 174 P.3d 54 (2007) ("implied waiver of contractual rights requires unequivocal acts, and here the City's acts were, at most, equivocal"). Ms. Lundy never acted as if she had waived her right to serve as Mr. Lundy's beneficiary. In addition, the state law that allegedly waived her rights, RCW 11.07.010, does not apply to the Boeing VIP Plan. Agreeing to a division of the benefit plans did not waive her ability to remain a beneficiary, if Mr. Lundy so chose.

In addition to waiver, the Estate alleged that the Lundys' dissolution decree incorporated RCW 11.07.010 as a matter of contract. (Response Brief at 31) ("statutes which bear directly upon the subject matter of the settlement are incorporated into and become part of the decree"); (4/2/14 VRP 21) ("parties are believed

to contract in reference to applicable state law, and that's why courts will read those statutes into the document itself").

But RCW 11.07.010 does not bear directly on Mr. Lundy's right, under federal law, to name a beneficiary – even his ex-wife. As detailed above, the revocation statute expressly excludes ERISA-governed plans. Therefore, courts do not incorporate its terms into a contract or dissolution decree.

It is the general rule that parties are presumed to contract with reference to existing statutes..., and a statute which affects the subject matter of a contract is incorporated into and becomes a part thereof.

Wagner v. Wagner, 95 Wn.2d 94, 98, 621 P.2d 1279 (1980) (emphasis added). The automatic revocation statute does not "affect the subject matter" of Mr. Lundy's beneficiary designation. The Legislature amended it to exclude the Boeing Plan. Egelhoff, 532 U.S. at 148.

Ms. Lundy did not contract away her ability to serve as Mr. Lundy's beneficiary. Both agreed to keep their designations intact after their divorce. Because RCW 11.07.010 specifically excludes ERISA-governed plans, the dissolution decree did not include an implied-at-law term requiring them to change beneficiaries. And without the automatic revocation language in RCW 11.07.010, the

Estate has no grounds to imply a contract term or waiver that nullifies Mr. Lundy's designation.

The Court of Appeals ruled correctly that "the Estate has not established a valid postdistribution claim to recover ERISA benefits." Estate of Lundy, slip op. at 12. Without a potentially valid claim to review, this Court appropriately denies the Estate's Petition for Review.

III. THE ESTATE'S ERROR MAKES FURTHER REVIEW ILL-ADVISED

The Estate portrays this appeal as a path breaking case on federal preemption. "Is an issue of substantial public interest present when the Court of Appeals held that ERISA preempts all state law claims by an estate to recover an ERISA governed 401(k) plan after it has been distributed to an ex-spouse?" (Petition for Review at 1). This is far too broad a statement.

The Court of Appeals reversed the trial court for applying a preempted statute, RCW 11.07.010, through the back door.

[The Estate] It argues that the court should look to RCW 11.07.010 to discern the parties' intent. But, as Carmona[v. Carmona, 603 F.3d 1041 (2008)] made clear, state law "cannot be used to contravene the dictates of ERISA." 603 F.3d at 1061. The Estate cannot revive a preempted statute simply by applying it in a postdistribution argument that does not directly implicate ERISA.

Estate of Lundy, slip op. at 10-11. The trial court erred by accepting the Estate's argument at face value.

Despite this, the Estate makes the same argument to this Court:

In Washington State, there is a statute which explicitly discusses the effect of awarding a party a non-probate asset in a divorce decree. When a party is awarded an asset in a divorce decree, by statute, there is an <u>automatic revocation</u> of the beneficiary designation of an ex-spouse prior to the divorce...RCW 11.07.010.

(Petition for Review at 17) (quotation omitted). At the heart of the Estate's argument is a fundamental flaw – that RCW 11.07.010 somehow applies to ERISA-governed plans. The exclusion in RCW 11.07.010(5)(a)(i) applies for all purposes, especially as an implied-at-law term to all divorce decrees. Since RCW 11.07.010 cannot nullify a federal designation of a beneficiary before distribution, it cannot nullify the same designation after distribution. The United States Supreme Court pre-empted the statute from any application to ERISA-governed plans.

This Court should not accept review over the Estate's inherently flawed argument.

CONCLUSION

The Estate of Craig Lundy convinced the trial court to revive RCW 11.07.010 for an excluded benefit plan. The United States Supreme Court has held that statute preempted for all ERISA-governed benefits. Lacking evidence that Appellant Kelly Lundy expressly waived her ability to remain Mr. Lundy's beneficiary, the Estate incorporates the statue statute as an implied contract term in the couple's dissolution decree. But the statute, by its terms and controlling federal law, does not apply to Mr. Lundy's retirement plan.

The Court of Appeals rejected the Estate's argument and corrected the trial court's error. Appellant Kelly Lundy respectfully requests this Court to deny the Estate's Petition for Review and end this appeal.